Public Document Pack

Children, Education and
Skills Sub Committee
Thursday, 7 January 2021
Thursday, 14 January 2021. This meeting will be held remotely via Microsoft Teams
Remote Meeting commencing at 6.00 pm.
Agenda
Item
1.

Page

Apologies for absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.

Appointment of substitutes
To be informed of the appointment of any substitute members for
the meeting.

3.

To receive any declarations of interest
You are invited to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable
interests in matters appearing on the agenda, and the nature of that
interest.
You are also invited to disclose any dispensation from the requirement
to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable interests that have
been granted to you in respect of any matters appearing on the agenda

4.

Minutes

5 - 10

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2020.
5.

Corporate Parenting Activity During the Covid 19 Pandemic

11 - 18

To provide an update regarding the activities of the service to meet the
Corporate Parenting Responsibilities of the Local Authority during the
Covid 19 pandemic.

6.

Report of the Children's Readiness for School Sub-Group

19 - 32

To receive the report of the Children's Readiness for School Sub-Group
Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting and receive information about it.
North Tyneside Council wants to make it easier for you to get hold of the information you need.
We are able to provide our documents in alternative formats including Braille, audiotape, large
print and alternative languages.

Agenda
Item

7.

Page

Child Sexual Exploitation Update

33 - 42

To receive an update on any developments relating to child sexual
exploitation in North Tyneside during the Covid 19 pandemic – to follow
Circulation overleaf …

Members of the Children, Education and Skills Sub Committee
Councillor Trish Brady
Councillor Joanne Cassidy
Councillor Karen Lee
Councillor Andy Newman
Councillor Erin Parker-Leonard
Councillor Matthew Thirlaway (Chair)
Mr Stephen Fallon
Mrs Michelle Ord
Rev Michael Vine

Councillor Sean Brockbank
Councillor Nigel Huscroft
Councillor Maureen Madden
Councillor Pat Oliver (Deputy Chair)
Councillor Steven Phillips
Councillor Matt Wilson

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
These minutes are draft until confirmed at the next meeting of the sub-committee
Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
23 January 2020

Present:

Councillor M Thirlaway (Chair)
Councillor T Brady, J Cassidy, N Huscroft, M Madden, A
Newman, P Oliver, E Parker-Leonard and S Phillips

Mr S Fallon - Church Representative
Rev M Vine - Church Representative
Apologies: Councillor M Wilson and Mrs M Ord

CES24/01/20

Substitute Members

There were no substitute members
CES25/01/20

Declarations of Interest

Councillor E Parker-Leonard declared a registerable personal interest in Item 6 The
attainment of looked after children, as she was a foster carer with another local authority.
Councillor S Phillips declared a registerable personal interest in Item 6 The attainment of
looked after children, as he was a school governor.

CES26/01/20

Minutes

Resolved that subject to the amendments below, the minutes of the previous meeting held
on 21 November 2019 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
Paragraph 6 be replaced by: In 2018, approximately 55% of children had plans completed in
time within the 20 week assessment process timescale.
Paragraph 7 be replaced by: Members sought clarification on the average length of time it
took to complete a plan.
Paragraph 10 be replaced by: It was agreed to note the contents of the report and it was
noted that on average, an EHC Needs Assessment took 27 weeks to complete.

CES27/01/20

Changes to Local Safeguarding Arrangements

The Sub-committee received a report from the Independent Advisor to the North Tyneside
Children Partnership on the implementation of the new arrangements for Safeguarding as

Page 5

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee
required by the Children and Social Work Act and revised statutory guidance “Working
Together” 2018.
These arrangements replaced the requirement for a statutory Board and Independent Chair.
Responsibility and accountability for the delivery of the requirements of the statutory
guidance, now rested with what were termed the three Statutory Partners who were the
Local Authority, the Chief Constable and the Clinical Commissioning Group.
The retention of a form of partnership was identified through consultation as being important.
In order to reflect past learning, a new partnership had been formed (North Tyneside
Children Partnership) which looked to combine the strengths of the previous Children Young
People’s Partnership and the Local Safeguarding Children Board. This would provide a
focus on overall outcomes for children and young people in the borough and integrate
assurance and learning to ensure that all priorities and outcomes were widely owned. This
partnership would also develop an approach to learning and assurance that ensured there
was a focus on joint working to protect children and promote their welfare in order that the
Statutory Partners could meet their statutory requirements.
The new partnership was directly accountable to the North Tyneside Strategic Partnership
and would develop effective lines of reporting and sharing with other partnerships. The
Statutory Partners had established regular meetings to provide a lead for implementation
and a work plan would address key delivery and development issues. This included the
need to produce a report within twelve months outlining progress, learning and impact. This
report would also itemise further changes that might be needed.
There was a requirement for the provision of independent scrutiny, but the guidance was not
specific as to what form this should take. For the interim period, a role of Independent
Advisor had been created to provide the statutory partners and the partnership with support
and advice. This role was also responsible for the development and operation of the means
to look into the effectiveness of practice and how joint working arrangements were acting on
learning.
The new partnership would continue to benefit from the arrangements in place to provide
children and young people with an opportunity to be heard and to influence priorities and
outcomes. In terms of safeguarding arrangements, it was the intention to develop a
particular approach that reflected the need to recognise and learn from the experiences of
children who were vulnerable and who had experienced harm, neglect, abuse and
exploitation. This would draw on wider learning that was emerging and was often referred to
as “lived experience”. If successful, this would add a new perspective to the understanding
of abuse and therefore how joint working arrangements could be developed to reflect this.
There were parallels with the approaches to Children who were Looked After and the wider
intention to ensure that the new arrangements were focused on joint working practice.
Following the implementation of the new arrangements the responsibility for how the system
learned lessons from serious child safeguarding incidents lay at a national level with the
Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and at a local level with the safeguarding
partners. The three safeguarding partners were required to make arrangements to identify
serious child safeguarding cases which raised issues of importance in relation to the area
and commission and oversee the review of those cases, where they considered it
appropriate for a review to be undertaken.
A Member expressed concern that there could be a dip in service between the abolition of

Page 6
23 January 2020

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

the Statutory Board and the development of the new service and the Independent Advisor
stated that the risks had been addressed.
He noted that the implementation of the new arrangements was at an early stage. The
Statutory Partners in North Tyneside had embraced the opportunities this represented on
the basis of a considered and careful approach. This recognised the need to remain focused
on the high levels of jeopardy safeguarding represented, not least for local children and
young people. As before being assured that the complexity and real challenges of effective
joint working arrangements were effective was not a simple task. Not withstanding the local
choices, there was an inherent level of risk in the changes required by legislation and
guidance especially regarding adjustments in terms of leadership, accountability and the role
of independence.
Effective safeguarding required ownership and investment at every level and across the
many places where children and young people lived and came into contact with risk.
At this point developments were likely to benefit from close monitoring, degrees of
challenges including an independent perspective, in order to realise the potential and
opportunity to develop and maintain a meaningful and effective perspective on being
assured that children and young people were protected and that their welfare was promoted.
In response to a question regarding the move away from a statutory independent
partnership, the Independent Advisor noted that there was a risk of reducing the level of
challenges taking place but that anyone had the opportunity to raise questions and
challenges with Ofsted.
Members referred to the arrangements in place to involve young people and hoped that
children and young people’s voices would be valued and that there would be a cultural
change.
The Committee received an update on the case of Child A and it was noted that the decision
not to undertake a Review had been endorsed by the three statutory Safeguarding Partners.
The Independent Advisor stated that the National Panel which scrutinised and challenged all
decisions had agreed with the decision not to commission a local child safeguarding practice
review (LCSPR).
A request was made that in future, the Sub-Committee would be informed of the death of a
child in the Borough. The Senior Manager undertook to liaise with the Cabinet Member
regarding a mechanism for informing the Sub-Committee.
A concern was expressed that education was not a full statutory partner in the new
arrangements. It was noted that the Executive Group membership included two Head
Teachers and at operational level the education service was absolutely committed to
safeguarding.
It had been agreed that the annual Section 11 self-assessment process for schools and
colleges would be maintained and this produced a pro-active picture of how children and
young people were being safeguarded where they were educated.
The Chair thanked the Independent Advisor and Officers for the informative report and for
attending the meeting.
It was agreed to note the contents of the report.

Page 7
21 November 2019

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

CES28/01/20

The Attainment of Looked After Children

The Sub-Committee received an overview of the educational outcomes and progress of the
children in the care of North Tyneside Council.
The Council as Corporate Parents had a statutory duty to promote the education of looked
after children in the care of North Tyneside Council. They also had an extended remit to
provide advice and information to schools and families relating to the education of previously
looked after children (who had achieved permanence through adoption, special guardianship
or a child arrangements order).
The Virtual School sat within the Raising the Health and Education of Looked After Children
Team (RHELAC) and together with health colleagues closely monitored the holistic needs of
looked after children. The Virtual School had a small team of teachers that provided support,
mainly in schools, to help pupils fill gaps in their knowledge and give them a boost in
preparation for exams and assessments. Over the last few years psychological support had
been developed through educational psychologists and counsellors to help pupils manage
their mental health needs that could sometimes be a barrier to learning.
The Virtual School Head managed the Pupil Premium Plus for looked after children and this
partly funded the support available within the team and the funding was used to provide ICT
equipment, fund extra tuition or fund educational visits. Schools also received a direct
allocation of £1200 per looked after child each year to provide additional support in school.
The Virtual School closely monitored the progress and attendance of looked after children
through their Personal Education Plans and the termly data collection from schools. The
Virtual School had a performance officer who analysed the presenting data and identified
any gaps in provision and held schools to account when pupils did not appear to be making
enough progress.
The looked after children in the early years foundation stage OC2 cohort (in care for more
than twelve months) outperformed both looked after children nationally and their non-looked
after peers in North Tyneside.
Whilst there were only four children in this cohort, they all passed their Phonics test. They
also had a higher average point score than the other cohorts. This was the second year
100% of the OC2 cohort had passed their Phonics Check. The Team had invested in a
Reading Recovery teacher who had supported the pupils that met the criteria and provided
intensive support in reading and writing. This enabled the pupils to make accelerated
progress and catch up with their peers. The evidence base around Reading Recovery was
very strong and the Council would continue to use this approach.
The seven pupils in the Key Stage 1 cohort also out-performed their non-looked after peers
in Reading, Maths and Science but three did not meet the expected standard in writing
which had impacted on the Reading, Writing, Maths (RWM) achievement. Looked after
children nationally had lower writing scores and writing had been an area of focus for many
years. This was a combination of poor fine motor skills from neglect in their early life, poorer
vocabulary and a lack of experiences to write about. The Team now had an occupational
therapist within the Team and it was hoped that she would support with handwriting. The
Reading Recovery Programme also supported with writing and hopefully those that had
benefitted from this intervention would see further improvements in the future.

Page 8
23 January 2020

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

The Key Stage 2 Cohort only included four children that had been in care for more than
twelve months (as of March 2019). This made statistical analysis difficult. 50% of the OC2
cohort achieved the expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths which was higher
than looked after children nationally.
The National Consortium for Examination Results NCER data for the Key Stage 4 cohort
had too many gaps currently to be included due to the numbers in independent residential
provision that had not been uploaded to the system yet.
The Key Stage 4 cohorts were always significantly larger than the other cohorts due to the
number of adolescents entering care. 33% entered care during Key Stage 4, making it
difficult to fill knowledge gaps in time for the exams.
Whilst the number achieving ‘the Basics’ at Grade 4+ was lower than previously, 22% only
missed by one grade. The changes in the GCSE grading system had made it much harder
for pupils to meet the Grade 5+ benchmark that schools were now judged on. Targeted work
was being undertaken with Key Stage 3 pupils to fill gaps in their mathematical knowledge.
This year’s cohort had 25% with an Education, Health and Care Plan which also impacted
on the outcomes. The National Association of Virtual School Heads had analysed some of
the national data and had found that the new Maths and English GCSEs were much harder
to achieve for looked after children with identified Special Educational Needs (SEN). Since
the changes in 2016 the outcomes for looked after children had declined.
The Key Stage 5 post-16 cohort took many different routes to employment. Three looked
after children completed A Levels this year and all of them achieved the grades they
required to go to university. Others achieved well by taking a vocational route at Tyne Met
and Newcastle College and there were an increasing number securing apprenticeships
within the council. The Government had announced some Pupil Premium Plus for looked
after children in Further Education but the Team were awaiting further news about this.
Overall the Team were very proud of the achievements of looked after children this year.
The younger pupils had demonstrated that being in care did not necessarily need to be a
barrier to achieving. The Early Years Foundation Stage and Phonics outcomes were higher
than pupils who were not in care and at Key Stage 1 in Reading and Maths, this was also
the case. Although the cohort sizes were small, this was still an impressive achievement.
The Team recognised that the Key Stage 4 cohort provided the team with more challenge
and although the outcomes were not as high, many missed achieving the Grade 4s by only
one grade. The new higher Grade 5 benchmark would be a challenge for those that had
missed significant parts of their education prior to entering care and any instability at home
or school impacted on progress.
A Member asked how the Team were evidencing the work and the Virtual School Head
reported that the data system enabled the analysis to pull out the cohort and look at them
against a larger cohort and to see how the children performed against the cohort nationally.
Members welcomed the achievements of the looked after children and it was confirmed that
they entered a variety of different employment areas after school.

The Chair thanked Officers for the informative report and for attendance at the meeting.

Page 9
21 November 2019

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

It was agreed to note the contents of the report.

Page 10
23 January 2020

Agenda Item 5
Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Date:

14 January 2021

Title:

Corporate Parenting Activity During Covid 19 Pandemic

Author: Jodie Henderson

Tel: 0191 643 7388

Service: Children’s Social Care
HECS
Wards affected: All

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide an update regarding the activities of the
service to meet the Corporate Parenting Responsibilities of the Local Authority
during the Covid 19 pandemic.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

The committee is asked to note the work undertaken and identify any areas of
support and/or challenge to improve services to children in our care and care
leavers.

3.

Details

3.1

We have 299 children and young people in our care and 162 care leavers at
the time of writing this report.

3.2

The majority of the children in our care live in fostering households. The
fostering service has continued to operate all aspects of the service during the
Covid 19 pandemic. Staff are working remotely from home and maintaining
contact with all existing carers with visits taking place where required, subject to
individual risk assessments.

3.3

The foster carer community in North Tyneside have responded to Covid 19 with
stoic resilience. We have seen carers step forward to take children from
households that have not socially distanced, potentially placing themselves and
their families at risk, we have moved children to adoption and continued to offer
stable care to children throughout.

3.4

We have 157 Approved Foster Carers and of these 59 are Connected Person
Foster Carers. We have 224 Children placed with Foster Carers, 73 of these
children are placed with Connected Person Foster Carers.

1

Page 11

3.5

3.6

We are using 18 Independent fostering homes and have 36 children and young
people living in these homes. 3 of these young people are in ‘Staying Put’
arrangements
We took every opportunity during ‘Foster Care Fortnight’ during May to raise the
profile of foster care in North Tyneside and are delivered a ‘thank you’ gift and
card to each of our161-foster carer during the fortnight. These were well
received, and we recorded as many as we could to support the next media
campaign.

3.7

In addition, we are launched our recruitment video on social media. It can be
accessed using the following link https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Q_-cJoERZw_mOD8ADYG-As_xCBKyTk-/view this is intended to be deliberately emotive in
order to stimulate positive views of children in care as well as encourage people
to foster. This campaign is being revisited in the run up to Christmas to continue
to promote the need for more foster carers in North Tyneside. We have a
fostering strategy which has a recruitment target of 30 foster carers this financial
year. We have successfully recruited 12 new carers this year and have 8 in the
various stages of assessment at this time. We track each enquiry to identify any
barriers to fostering with us that we can or should remove and to best target our
recruitment activity. We anticipate the continued social media campaigns to
further stimulate enquiries and continue to seek to provide a responsive and
child focused response to carers to progress as quickly as is productive into
approval.

3.8

Currently recruitment activity is continuing. The team is configured to direct
staff at the beginning of the recruitment process and to maintain contact with
people who have expressed an interest while initial checks are undertaken.
This keeps people engaged with fostering and has supported in some cases
the ability to run the stages of fostering concurrently.

3.9

Usually a person expresses an interest in fostering and this is registered with
us, we then undertake some initial screening, discussing the role, expectation
and the practicalities (such as bedroom space, working hours), subject to this
going well we then progress to formal checks with DBS, medical reports,
employers, and personal references.

3.10

If these progress successfully we allocate a social worker to undertake a
fostering assessment. This is then presented to the fostering panel and a
recommendation is made to the Agency Decision Maker to determine suitability
to be a registered foster carer.

3.11

In summary, foster care recruitment continues and is monitored against the
strategy to reduce the spend on Independent Fostering Agency placements.

3.12

We have 36 children and young people placed in IFA arrangements. Of these
10 are long term matched and we would not propose to make any changes to
these arrangements. The children are settled and thriving in what they have
been told is their forever home. A further 10 have been with their carers for a
considerable period and a match is likely to be presented soon. This is in line
with the child’s care plan and reflective of their stability and sense of belonging
2

Page 12

where they are. We would not propose to disrupt these children’s care
arrangements by bringing them back into in house foster care, although some
carers may choose to foster with us over time.
3.13

The remaining 16 children have differing plans and each child is considered
individually to plan their safe and stable care. Many of these children are the
subject of legal proceedings and if the outcome is that they need to remain in
care we would seek to place them with North Tyneside foster carers on a longterm basis.

3.14

North Tyneside currently has 5 registered children’s homes with a further 2
homes pending registration. Each of these homes has a specific statement of
purpose and is designed based on the need for care to children linked to the
sufficiency plan for children’s placements.

3.15

The homes are;
Addison Street Short Break Care children’s home. This home offers up to 5
beds per night short break care to children with disabilities, including learning
disabilities and autism. Children aged from 7-17 can access the service. The
home works closely with social work services to seek to make sure that the
children referred to the service are those in most acute need, and that any
whose needs could be met in a short break foster care arrangement are directed
to that service. This is planned to support the homes ability to meet the needs
of children with more complex health and behavioural needs in order to reduce
the need to use external providers to do this.
During the Covid 19 pandemic it has been necessary to carefully manage the
children accessing the service in order to reduce risks to the children accessing
the service and to the staff group as best as we can. This has included reducing
bed nights for some children, although we increase capacity to its safe
maximum wherever we are able to do so.

3.16

3.17

Service improvements at Addison Street include those to the building lay out
and appearance, the staff team are stable, and report being well supported.

3.18

Lime Tree House Children’s Home has 5 beds for children with Autism and
Learning Disabilities aged from 7-17 and our in our care. Lime Tree House is a
replacement for the service that has operated from Heatherfield Mews in
Annitsford and is in Forest Hall. It is a more substantial building with bedrooms
on 2 levels. It has wet room bathrooms and significantly more space for the
children to play and socialise. The move of home allows the service to meet the
needs of children with more complex needs. Children are aged from 7-17 can
live at the home.

3.19

The Heatherfield Mews building was split into 2 parts and the larger 4 bed home
is being used by 2 young men who have lived there as children and are now
over 18. Adult services are developing a service for them to move into with least
disruption to them. The other, smaller 3 bed part of the property is being
registered as a children’s home and this is detailed below.

3

Page 13

3.20

Sycamore House is a 5 bed children’s home for children in North Tyneside
who have acare plan which includes remaining in a children’s home for the
duration of their childhoods. Children aged 13-17 can live at Sycamore House.
Sycamore House is on the Riverside site in North Shields. It is supported with a
stable staff team and management group. The service works closely with Elm
House which is a Department of Education funded pilot service called ‘Staying
Close’ which looks at the support young people who have lived in children’s
homes, need when moving towards adult life.

3.21

Riverdale Children’s home is a 5-bed home which is on the approach to the
Riverside site on Minton Lane. This home offers children’s homes beds to
children at entry to care, or who have disrupted care experiences and provides
an assessment of their care needs to inform future planning.

3.22

Beech House has been established at short notice and registered as a solo
bed children’s home to meet the needs of a young person with complex
developmental and learning disabilities. This young person is known to
services and it was agreed that this would best meet her needs. Beech House
is within the Bridlington Close Supported accommodation service and it is
planned that Beech House be used to support the transition of children with
disabilities from external placements to adult service provision with North
Tyneside.

3.23

In North Tyneside we are in the process of registering 2 further solo homes as
we have identified young people who have experienced considerable
instability. One of these homes will be on the existing Heatherfield Mews short
break care site and the other is on the site of Howdon’s children’s centre in the
previous care takers cottage. Permission has been granted to recruit a staff
team for one of these homes and the second is in negotiation. This will allow
young people with complex needs to remain in North Tyneside, better
supporting their ability to form lasting relationships, maintain education
provision and allow therapeutic work to be put into place to aid them as they
mature. In addition, it is identified as more cost effective to maintain these
young people in house if possible, to do so.

3.24

All children living or staying in the homes in North Tyneside have an allocated
Key worker who takes responsibility for the co-ordination of the child’s
experience in the home. The key worker will seek to establish a positive and
caring relationship with the child which supports the ability to undertake any
work identified to address trauma experienced or need.

3.25

In order to safeguard children in our children’s homes we encourage
independent visitors and advocacy services to meet with children to explore
their experiences and help them to raise any issues of concern.

3.26

The children’s homes in North Tyneside all require investment in the fabric of
the buildings. Each home has specific challenges linked to the repairs required
and the nature of the service provided. While every effort is made by the staff
teams to maintain a homely environment issues such as double glazing, boilers

4

Page 14

and bathroom refurbishments are outside of their capacity. Work is progressing
to have these areas addressed.
3.27

Each home is regulated by Ofsted and all homes provided by North Tyneside
Council are currently rated GOOD.

3.28

Children Placed Outside of North Tyneside.

3.29

There are currently 18 children placed in children’s homes outside of North
Tyneside. Of these 4 have a disability. One child is placed in secure
accommodation. 4 children are under 13 and it is acknowledged that these
children are very young to be placed in children’s homes and that work needs
to progress to consider the Local Authority position with regards to meeting the
needs of younger children placed in children’s homes.

3.30

The cost of placing children outside of the area is considerable at around £183,
500 (average cost) and the decision to do so is carefully considered and
revisited to monitor progress and welfare of each child through a variety of
mechanisms. These include social work visits, quality assurance visits by a
registered manager from North Tyneside, commissioning oversite and review
at both Resource Allocation Panel and High Cost Panel.
Where appropriate work is progressed to return children to North Tyneside with
specific adverting campaigns linked to children’s needs to recruit carers for
them. This work involves identifying education placements for them along with
any health or specialist services that may be required. Often this contributes to
some to the additional challenges.
Education and Health.
The education and health needs of children in care are promoted by the foster
carers and staff teams with the support of the HIVE service (previously
RHELAC).
Children are expected to attend school daily and their successes are celebrated
within their homes. Where additional support is needed outside of that which
the school could reasonably be expected to provide the virtual school steps in
to support each child with support tailored to need. Each child in care is
supported with a Personal Education Plan (PEP) which details their educational
successes and support needs. Where required all children in care and care
leavers have been provided with IT equipment to support remote learning in the
form of laptops and internet access. This has been supported with Department
of Education equipment where required.
This has supported our ability to increase methods of communicating with
children and young people, using social media and video calling. This has been
positively received by young people who were accustomed to doing this in their
social networks and have reported enjoying this level of contact with
professionals.
During the first Covid 19 lockdown children and young people were not
attending school or college. Many initially experienced this opportunity to spend
dedicated time with adults who were themselves not following usual routines to
be a positive and nurturing experience. They appeared to benefit from the
reduction in pressures of formal education. They were however ready to return
to see friends and re-establish routines when schools reopened in September.

3.31

3.32
3.33

3.34

3.35

3.36

5

Page 15

3.37
3.38

3.39

3.40

3.41

3.42

3.43

3.44

3.45

3.46

For some the variation in timetables and the break has created additional
anxieties on return and support in the form of teaching and counselling is in
place.
Care Experienced Young People.
The Personal Advisors in the leaving care team have been working from home
maintaining contact with young people using telephones, face time and social
media.
The resilience shown by our care leaving population has been humbling. They
have come together to support each other practically and emotionally and have
developed networks to problem solve. Prior to lock down the team made sure
that all young people had the means to remain in contact by providing tablets
and IT dongles to any who needed them.
Young people were also supported to identify where they would stay during the
pandemic. This has largely been successful with individual issues being
resolved as they have arisen. Colleagues from housing have been supportive
and responsive to resolving difficulties with pragmatic solutions.
In addition to the maintenance of contact through welfare calls the team have
provided arrange of activities for young people, such as cake making kits,
exercise equipment and games. These have been very well received and many
young people have expressed their delight with these. A weekly newsletter has
included advice to maintain emotional and physical wellness, quizzes and
updates regarding staff and each other’s achievements.
As the Covid 19 restrictions begin to lift young people were being supported to
bid on properties where appropriate to move on and were enjoying more direct
contact with their personal advisors. The extent to which the young people and
the personal advisors missed direct contact with one another is testament to
the relationships they have.
The team works out of the lodge in the riverside centre and as this is a very
small building with maintenance requirements it has been difficult to return to a
business as usual model as there is insufficient space for more than 3 people
to be present at any one time. This removes the much-needed drop in facility,
and we have asked for additional space at the Riverside Centre to be able to
retain this offer for young people once the latest lockdown measures are eased.
North Tyneside have been selected as one of eight Local Authorities to work
with Coram Voice to consider how we involve care experienced young people
in strategic planning of services for children in care and care experienced young
people.
The project aims to challenge Local Authorities to consider the experience of
care leavers in real terms and to use that experience to raise the ambition of
services towards young people in care and who have experienced care. This
includes all aspects of young people’s lives including health, education,
housing, leisure, transport, financial support. In North Tyneside in order to
improve the experience of care leavers we are clear that we need to begin with
the experience of children in care, we seek to use the experience of care leavers
to improve not only their lives and futures but those of children currently in our
care.
Our care experienced young people have been involved in the production and
completion of a survey to gather the views of fellow care leavers regarding our
6

Page 16

3.47

offer to them and their current involvement in strategic planning within the local
authority. We submitted a higher return rate than anticipated with 72 out of 162
young people completing the survey and while we acknowledge that the
impact of the Covid 19 restrictions may have formed part of the responses we
have noted that the exercise of completing the survey has been useful to
young people and their personal advisors.
The report provided indicated several strengths in North Tyneside care leavers
perceptions of their experiences and the support they received. These include:
 Stability of Personal Advisor
 Relationship with Personal Advisor
 Ability to contact Personal advisor or someone else in the team
who would help
 Housing options available to care leavers in North Tyneside
 Feeling Safe at home and in the community
 Understanding why they had been in care

3.48

Areas identified for development included;
•
•
•
•
•
•

3.49

3.50
3.51

3.52

3.53

3.54

3.55

Mental health and wellbeing (loneliness and anxiety,
particularly for males)
Long term health and disability
Support network – trusted persons and friendships
Managing financially
Appearance (link to wellbeing)
Sense of achievement

The young people involved are currently developing an action plan linked to
their priorities and their preferred method of holding officers and members to
account for progress against this and will share this in the coming weeks.
Covid Planning
The statutory activity of children’s services has continued throughout the
pandemic. Social workers and social care staff have continued to come to work
and to work remotely to meet the needs of vulnerable children and young people
in North Tyneside.
Children’s homes and foster care have remained ‘business as usual’ during the
Covid 19 pandemic with staff and carers working throughout. There have been
challenges with young people struggling to cope with the implications of lock
down and some not being able to adhere to the social distancing rules.
Staff and carers have been supported additional welfare support from
managers and psychologist support. PPE has been made available and has
been used. Where young people have needed to self-isolate due to be
symptomatic, they have been cared for within the homes and we have limited
visitors to those who are essential to service delivery at these times.
We have had young person tested positive for Covid 19 and it is a testament to
the care provided by staff who work in our children’s homes that staff have
volunteered to work in these homes with young people in a ‘care bubble’.
All staff at work with identified under lying health complaints are supported with
individual risk assessments and when required to do so those who are
extremely clinically vulnerable are at home with work provided.
7

Page 17

3.56

3.57

3.58

Business continuity planning has included the implications of one or more staff
team needing to self-isolate or becoming symptomatic at the same time.
Arrangements are in place for staff from other homes to provide cover if required
and several staff from other areas of the council have been inducted to support
this work. This has been tested several times so far and has supported the safe
running or services.
Addison Street is identified in the Business Continuity Planning as the only nonstatutory children’s home and as such it is possible it could be closed, and the
staff used to support children in care with Covid 19 if required.
It has been apparent during the Covid 19 pandemic that some of the
areas of focus from the Corporate Parenting Forum have shifted, with
for example concern for the number of children missing from care
declining dramatically. Other areas such as the need to promote the
health needs of our children, and to ensure that children are placed as
close to or within North Tyneside as possible remain areas of priority.

4.

Background Information

4.1

The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and
may be inspected at the offices of the author.
Fostering Strategy 2020
Children’s Homes (Individual) Statements of Purpose
Coram Voice New Belongings Survey Results.

8

Page 18

Agenda Item 6
Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Date:

14 January 2021

Title:

Children’s Readiness for School

Author:

Children's Readiness for School
Sub-Group

Service:

Law and Governance

Tel: 643 5030

Wards affected: All

1.

Purpose of Report
To introduce the report of the Children's Readiness for School Sub-group.

2.

Recommendations
The Sub-committee is recommended to approve the report and refer to Overview, Scrutiny
and Policy Development Committee for consideration.

3.

Details
At its meeting in September 2019, the Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
agreed to review the early intervention support available for parents in North Tyneside to
enable children to be ready for school and identify if any improvements could be made to
the support available to ensure the outcomes were improved for their children and families.
At this meeting it was decided that a Sub-Group be established to carry out a review during
the 2019/20 municipal year.
The following Members volunteered to serve on the group:
-

Councillor Matthew Thirlaway (Chair)
Councillor Pat Oliver (Vice-Chair)
Rev Michael Vine

3.1

The Sub-Group felt that it was important to consult directly with schools and a
questionnaire was circulated to all First and Primary Schools in North Tyneside. The
Group met with officers in the Early Help Services Team and the Health Visiting and
School Nurse Service to gather information on the role that the Council has in relation to
Children’s Readiness for School. The Sub-group also met with staff in Private Nurseries
in North Tyneside. Further consultation was deferred due to Covid restrictions.

3.2

The Sub-Group wish to make six recommendations to Cabinet.

3.3

The Sub-Committee is recommended to approve the report and refer to Overview,
Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee for consideration at its meeting on 18
January 2021.

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Overview and Scrutiny Report

Children’s Readiness for
School

November 2020

2.

Reason for the study

2.1

At its meeting in September 2019, the Children, Education and Skills Subcommittee agreed to review the early intervention support available for
parents in North Tyneside to enable children to be ready for school and
identify if any improvements could be made to the support available to ensure
the outcomes were improved for their children and families.

Page 21

2.2

The topic linked to the Be Ready for School Priority of the North Tyneside
Plan – “Giving our children and their families the best start in life”.

3.

Remit and method

3.1

At a Scoping meeting the Sub-group agreed to consult with First and Primary
Schools and ask the following questions:

3.2

-

What is your understanding of “being ready for school”?

-

What is involved in developing children’s school readiness including for
example self care, literacy, language and socialisation?

-

What are the reasons for children not being ready for school?

-

What is your approach to children being ready for school?

-

How do you engage with parents/carers?

-

Have you seen an improvement in children being ready for school?

-

Who is involved in improving children’s school readiness and do you work
together to achieve this aim?

-

Would you be interested in providing information/speaking to the Sub
Group?

The following Members volunteered to serve on the group:
-

Councillor Matthew Thirlaway (Chair)
Councillor Pat Oliver (Vice-Chair)
Rev Michael Vine

3.3

The Sub-group felt that it was important to consult directly with schools and a
questionnaire was circulated to all First and Primary Schools in North
Tyneside. The Group met with officers in the Early Help Services Team and
the Health Visiting and School Nurse Service to gather information on the role
that the Council has in relation to Children’s Readiness for School. The Subgroup also met with staff in Private Nurseries in North Tyneside.

4.

Findings and evidence

4.1

Consultation with Schools

4.1.1 A number of Primary Schools reported that they were seeing an increasing
number of children who were not ready for school with children not being toilet
trained, the over use of dummies and nappies and children being transported
in buggies, poor speech acquisition and inability to interact with others, child
protection issues, poor social skills, poor language and communication skills,
children allowed unlimited access to electronic devices and children with low
literacy skills and no knowledge of stories and rhymes.

Page 22

4.1.2 A number of reasons cited were parents with a lack of skills, knowledge and
vocabulary/academic ability, parents with social issues not parenting
appropriately, working parents being too busy, helicopter parenting with
parents doing everything for their child, lowering their child’s self help skills
and sense of independence
4.1.3 A school in Benton noted that toilet issues took staff away from teaching and
they reported that they were completing more referrals for speech and
language therapy which added to staff workload.
4.1.4 Schools had different approaches to improving children’s readiness for
school. One school in Howdon offered pre start toileting sessions and shared
expectations and support in the school’s induction pack.
4.1.5 Another school in Longbenton had opened up two year old provision to allow
children an even earlier chance to receive care and instruction from qualified
staff. They completed Early Help Assessments with families entering two year
old provision as a means of identifying and offering support as quickly as
possible. They employed a school nurse one day per week to support parents
and offered workshops, drop ins and appointments across the whole school.
However the Workshops had not been well attended despite being timetabled
to coincide with school drop off and pick up times.
The children who had attended the two year old provision were much more
settled on entry to nursery and children attending the nursery transition into
reception class had increased communication and social skills compared to
those who had not.

4.1.6 A school in Shiremoor with a two year old and a rising three nursery prior to
nursery immersed children in vocabulary, stories, songs, experiences and
development in all areas and ensured that they learned boundaries. They kept
parents well-informed and engaged with parents/carers by organising
lessons with the children, singing events, wellie walks, performances, visits
out of school to a farm and the beach. They also tweeted books of the week
and daily learning. They held book bonanza or pyjama story days and
sessions to learn about how to share stories and they gave out packs with
ideas for learning
The School noted that 88% of the children lived in the four most deprived
areas and engagement with parents was an on-going challenge.
4.1.7 Another School in North Shields encouraged children to develop key
attributes and attitudes and develop a sense of self as ‘a positive learner’ with
an ‘I can do’ approach and involved parents to increase their own confidence.
They stated that they did not have a problem with children being ready for
school who had been through the 2 and 3 year old Nursery. However, there
was a difference with those children who had attended other childcare
providers.

Page 23

4.2

Meeting with Early Help Services

4.2.1 At the service based at Riverside, the staff worked with parents to assist them
to prepare children for school as schools in the Riverside area had raised that
this was a problem. Family Partners in the Early Help Service undertook one
to one work, early help assessments and whole family partnership work.
4.2.2 Health Visitors and School nurses would go out to families if health was an
issue and issues would be picked up by Health Visitors at clinics to support
parents.
4.2.3 Schools who had raised readiness for school as an issue could log with the
early help pathway and start early help assessments.
4.2.4 Early Help had an approach to engage with families with ready for school
workshops and they undertook door knocking to encourage parents to take up
the 2 year old offer. The Service also organised stay and play drop ins.
The approach was to encourage parents to participate and not be
judgemental. At these sessions, the team discussed the importance of
morning and bed time routines and story time and song time and reinforcing
positive messages.
Some parents used ipads instead of traditional toys and intensive work was
undertaken to involve families in learning and fun days and the importance of
talking to children.
A Parenting course had been held at a School in North Shields which had
been well attended and the intention was to run another course.
The Early Help Service worked with the Children, Adolescent and Mental
Health Services Team and families were referred to Early Help to see what
level of support they needed and to upskill and the Team supported the
parents in the family home.
4.2.5 Members asked how many early years children there were in the Borough
who were not ready for school and where there were development issues and
neglect was raised as an issue
The Team said that the neglect referrals they received were not solely down
to children not being ready for school, as the neglect category covered a
much broader remit/range of issues.
4.2.6 In terms of hotspot areas where there were higher numbers of children who
were not ready for school these were mainly in areas of multiple deprivation.
4.2.7 The tables below show the percentage number of parents who accessed the
2 year old offer and 3 and 4 year old offer in 2019:
Take up of 2 Year Old entitlement – Early Years Census
2019
North Tyneside
North East
National

84%
82%
68%

Page 24

There was a very high take up, and those who did not take up the offer at 2 years,
did by 3 years
Take up of 3 and 4 Year old entitlement – Early Years Census

North Tyneside
North East
National

2019
101%
99%
94%

The take up was 101% as children from other Local Authorities accessed the
provision also
The Sub-Group recognised the work that was being done in North Tyneside to
achieve the high take up of the Early Years offer.
4.3

Health Visiting and School Nurses Service

4.3.1 The Service provided support to parents. Readiness for school started very
early and the Service supported mums during the ante natal period and all
women were offered an ante natal contact and a very early health needs
assessment. Dads were encouraged to be present so the Team could build
up a relationship with the family. The mums who did not engage were either
still at work or had to cancel their appointment which was re arranged or
mums were contacted by telephone to go through ante natal information and
information was sent out in the post.
4.3.2 All families had universal contact including ante natal contact, new baby visit,
assessment at 6-8 weeks, one year old assessment and 24-28 month
assessment. There was 98% compliance within North Tyneside for the new
birth visit by Health Visitors to families and non compliance was usually due to
baby being in special care.
Under the Healthy Child Programme children had a development review at
two years however the Service offered advice up until the age of five years.
The National Child Measurement Programme was for children in reception
class.
4.3.3 The Service had seen a rise in children who had not been toilet trained as
using nappies was convenient and it was not always a priority for parents.
The Service had offered a drop in session to help with toilet training at a
Primary school in North Shields in April 2019 in order for children to be trained
before the beginning of the school term in September, however the take up for
the session had been low. Engagement with parents was sometimes difficult,
and the Service had recruited community nursery nurses and it was hoped
they could assist in readiness for school support.
4.3.4 There were higher levels of children not meeting assessment thresholds in the
Riverside and Howdon areas and the vulnerable parent pathway pilot would
target resources to parents in these areas and then be introduced to other
areas where there were pockets of deprivation.

Page 25

Social media would be used more regularly to promote health messages to
parents and young people.
4.3.5 Baby clinics were held in libraries and leisure centres and Bounce and
Rhythm and Stay and Play sessions were promoted together with peer
support sessions for breast feeding.
Parents in the coastal area had set up a social media group to offer support
and continued to meet to support each other.
4.3.6 In families where there was a drug or alcohol problem and a chaotic lifestyle
there was an impact on the development of a child and any safeguarding
concerns would be escalated and parental support offered.
4.3.7 The School nurse team was small and undertook a whole system approach.
A pilot was being undertaken by school nurses to give out a toothbrush and
toothpaste kit to parents to roll out the cleaning teeth public health message.
A chat health online forum had been introduced for young people to email
questions to a school nurse and young people were signposted or referred for
support.
A safety equipment pilot had been introduced in the North Shields locality to
reduce childhood accidents and the impact would be shared with other wards
in the Borough.
4.3.8 The move from the NHS to the Council’s Public Health Team had enabled the
Team to improve links with the Special Educational Needs Team and to
provide advice to parents whose children had special educational needs and
a market place event at the Parks had enabled the Team to build links and
partnerships with the community and voluntary sector.
4.3.9 During discussions with the Health Visiting Service the Sub-Group asked if
schools flagged the issue of children not being toilet trained with the Service
and it was noted that few cases had been reported to the Service.
The Sub-Group noted that in schools, there was an impact on the child and
other children in the class.
The Sub-Group recognised the need to strengthen communication between
Schools and the Health Visiting Service and acknowledged that it was the
responsibility of many services for children’s readiness for school.
4.4

Private Nurseries

4.4.1 The Sub-Group met with representatives from private nursery providers in
Tynemouth, Wallsend and North Shields
4.4.2 The representative from the Nursery in Tynemouth discussed how the
Nursery had a Pre School Room and how they supported the childrens’ social
and emotional development and prepared children for transition to school and
learning.
4.4.3 The representative from Wallsend stated that some children were not
emotionally or socially ready for school and an example was highlighted
where some children at the Wallsend Nursery could not sit still at the table at

Page 26

meal times. The Nursery had children with toileting and behaviour problems
and had applied for Leaps funding.

4.4.4 The representative from North Shields advised that the Nursery worked with
children from deprived areas whose parents were out of work and also with
children whose parents had busy working lifestyles who did not invest time
with their children.
In Wallsend the deprivation issues were related to parenting and some
unemployed parents did not appreciate the value of early education and it was
about cultural change.
4.4.5 Links with reception classes
The representative from Tynemouth Nursery confirmed that the links with the
reception classes and Nursery schools were very positive in North Tyneside.

4.4.6 Readiness for school Initiatives
It was acknowledged that preventative measures undertaken by Sure Start
were a big miss such as free childcare courses undertaken by the Adult
Learning Alliance which built a relationship with the community and were not
seen as a threat.
Families had engaged with projects which included cooking and reading with
children and clothes exchanges and the children flourished.
The Nurseries stated that they offered elements from Sure Start such as “Stay
and Play” for parents but funding was tight.

4.4.7 The representative from North Shields stated that they used the Solihull
Parenting Programme “Cool for Schools” where parents were trained to be
buddies and which included useful activities.
4.4.8 The North Shields representative stated that the Nursery had invested in an
online learning journal to send out tips and relevant literature and this was a
useful way to engage parents.
4.4.9 The Tynemouth representative noted that the online learning book was a
useful way to engage with parents and presentations to parents at a parents
evening were beneficial.
4.4.10 The Nursery in Tynemouth undertook some home visits.
4.4.11 The Wallsend representative noted that the Nursery had previously given out
written newsletters but they now used Facebook to engage with parents and
post information and this was a useful platform to use for the community.
4.4.12 The Nursery representatives discussed the support offered from the Council.
The representatives noted that additional support for an individual child via
Early Years Inclusive Funding or Leaps funding involved a huge amount of
paperwork which was time consuming and difficult to navigate.

Page 27

4.4.13 The North Shields Representative noted that the Council’s ready for school
offer was very useful and a mock Ofsted and checking of Policies and
Procedures was undertaken but sometimes disheartening when the
recommendations were not always affordable. The Nursery had a service
level agreement with the Council for training. It was noted that this training
was optional for Nurseries to buy into and that unless the Nursery had a child
with special needs there would be very little communication with the Early
Years team. They stated that the early help assessment was a lengthy
process in order to coordinate speech and language, physiotherapy and
childcare specialisms.
4.4.14 It was acknowledged that the training sessions undertaken by the Council’s
Commissioning Team were very worthwhile.
4.4.15 During discussions with Private Nurseries it was highlighted that the early
help assessment process was very lengthy and bureaucratic and applying for
additional support for an individual child via Early Years Inclusion or Leaps
funding involved a huge amount of paperwork which was time consuming and
difficult to navigate.
The Sub-Group felt that the Local Authority should consider simplifying the
early help assessment process.
Nursery Representatives commented that further support from Health Visitors
on toilet training would be beneficial.
5

Conclusion
When we came to the end of our evidence gathering for this piece of
investigatory work, the coronavirus outbreak was only just in its infancy.
Words like “lockdown” and “social distancing were not yet a part of our
vocabulary. Ironically, this piece of work focuses on an issue that can only
have been worsened by the pandemic. Ensuring young children are ready for
school is vital to their development and has an impact throughout their life.
During this piece of work, we were adamant in our belief that parents and
carers are, first and foremost, responsible for ensuring their child is ready for
school. We acknowledged, however, that most parents will want or need
additional support. North Tyneside Council, and other agencies, therefore,
have an important role in supporting parents and carers so that all children in
the borough have a good start in life. The Council also has a distinct duty
towards our looked after children.
Concerns were raised at several meetings of the Children, Education, and
Skills Sub-Committee about reports in the national media about children not
being ready for school because of issues such as poor language development
and the lack of toilet training. The Sub-Committee established an investigation
into the size of the problem in North Tyneside.
The Sub-Group began by sending a questionnaire to all First and Primary
Schools in North Tyneside about their experiences, however, we received a
very small return. While the feedback was consistent the Sub-Group felt the
amount of evidence prevented us from drawing any conclusions about the
size of the problem in North Tyneside. We, therefore, believe it is crucial that
the Council consults with parents, schools, and private nurseries about

Page 28

children being ready for school with a focus on the size and distribution of the
problem in North Tyneside.
The Sub-Group also met with staff from private nursery providers, council
officers, and health workers. It became clear during these meetings that there
was a problem with some children not being ready for school. While we were
impressed with the support available to parents and carers, the Sub-Group
agreed on a number of important recommendations.
We would like to thank all those people who assisted us during this piece of
work as well as those Council staff who help, support, and protect children in
North Tyneside on a daily basis throughout the year.
6

Recommendations
The Sub-Group makes the following recommendations:

6.1

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests that the Director of Children's and Adult Services considers
improving communication between the Council, schools, and private nurseries
in relation to early help and being ready for school.

6.2

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests the Director of Children’s and Adult Services to consider
simplifying the early help assessment process, so it is less time consuming
and bureaucratic for schools and private nurseries or provides adequate help
to schools and private nurseries in completing the early help assessment
process.

6.3

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests that the Director of Children's and Adult Services provides
more help to schools and private nurseries for toilet training, including for
children without special needs.

6.4

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests that the Director of Children's and Adult Services provides
more help and encouragement for parents and carers in accessing early help
information and services, including help for toilet training, language
development, and accessing online educational material for children.

6.5

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests that the Director of Children's and Adult Services consults
with parents, schools, and private nurseries about early help and being ready
for school, including a focus on the size and distribution of any problems in
North Tyneside. The findings of this consultation are to be shared with
Cabinet and all Elected Members.

Page 29

6.6

Recommendation :
Cabinet requests that the Elected Mayor writes to the Secretary of State for
Education asking for more funding and resources for local government for
early help to ensure all children are ready for school.

7.0

Acknowledgements
The Sub Group would like to place on record its thanks and appreciation to
those officers and representatives of external organisations for their
assistance in providing the evidence on which this report is based. A full list
of all those individuals who helped the Sub Group with its work is set out in
Appendix 1.

8.0

Background Information
Our North Tyneside Plan

Page 30

Appendix 1
North Tyneside Council
Lesley Davies, Senior Manager Prevention and Early Help
Nik Flavell, Senior Manager for Quality Assurance
Nichole Garner, Early Help
Julie Connolly, Early Help
Karissa Williams, Early Help
Alison Ashley, Early Help
Jo Connolly, Senior Manager/Professional Nursing Lead
Kelly Grey, Health Visitor
Sarah Mann, Locality Nurse Manager
Pamela Winn, Health Visitor
Veronica Hetherington, Locality Nurse Manager
Denise Dobson, Locality Nurse Manager
Helen Smith, Lead Safeguarding Nurse
Graham Cowie, Commissioning Manager
Louise Guthrie, Headteacher Denbigh Community Primary School
Karen Glass, Deputy Headteacher Benton Dene Primary School
Judith Driver, Headteacher Balliol Primary School
Barbara Middleton, Headteacher Shiremoor Primary School
Rachel Woods, Headteacher Whitehouse Primary School
Maria Parkinson, Democratic Services Officer
External Contributors
Rebecca Sanderson – Tynemouth Nursery,Tynemouth
Kelly Rogers – The Family Tree Nursery, Wallsend

Page 31

Louise Cervantes – Linskill Nursery, North Shields

Page 32

Agenda Item 7

Meeting: Children, Education and Skills Sub Committee
Date: 14 January 2021
Title: Child Exploitation and developments within North Tyneside
Author: Victoria McLeod
Service: HECS
Wards affected: All

1.

Purpose of Report
To provide an update to the sub committee in relation to work undertaken in 2020 around
exploitation including: Missing, Slavery, Exploitation (both criminal and sexual) and
Trafficked (MSET).
The report will detail key priorities, work to-date to strengthen North Tyneside and
Partners responses to exploitation and more specifically in relation to MSET and work
planned in the coming months of 2021.

2.

Introduction
Child Sexual Exploitation does not happen within a vacuum so it is important to understand
the correlation between those children and young people who are vulnerable to the
spectrum of what we would call MSET.
Since this subcommittee was last updated around our approach to exploitation within North
Tyneside and more specifically Child Sexual Exploitation, there has been a significant
amount of work undertaken to further strengthen how we safeguard and report on those
children who are at risk of or are being exploited within North Tyneside.
Throughout 2020 there has been a working group meeting to review and develop our
policies, process, responses and data sets in relation to MSET.
We knew moving into the review that we had well established multi-agency MSET
arrangements which operate across the Northumbria Police area, with each local authority
having their own MSET panel, chaired by a DI for Child Abuse and Protection. The
processes within this were working well but we felt that there was an opportunity to

Page 33

strengthen them further, whilst raising awareness across a broad spectrum of
stakeholders.

3.

Details
We knew by strengthening several key areas we would be able to provide a robust
safeguarding response both internally, with partner agencies and in the wider community
by raising awareness. In doing this we identified 6 areas of focus:
• Processes and documents, to be updated in-line with evidence-informed changes to
the challenges faced by children and young people;
• Risk assessment tool, to incorporate all levels of risk associated with exploitation and
align this with Signs of Safety to allow consistency across the workforce;
• Referral pathways, to be improved and clear;
• Case management system to track and capture recording of exploitation;
• Need to strengthen our strategic oversight of the arrangements;
• Need to raise awareness of exploitation across the partnership and in the
community.
What we know about Our Young People:
 We know in North Tyneside there is a small cohort of young people where we have
worries around risk taking and safeguarding which is not always as a response to the
parenting that they receive.
 We know that this cohort of young people receive support from a range of
practitioners, through a range of different plans, each with a slightly different focus;
 That there was an opportunity to integrate our support to better engage these young
people to reduce risks and build safety;
 Statutory child protection processes do not necessarily meet the needs of these
young people.
What we Have Done:
• Agreed Contextual Safeguarding is one of our Multi – Agency Safeguarding
Arrangements (MASA) key priority areas.
• Reviewed and re-launched the MSET Strategic Group;
• Scoped and designed a new multi-agency Adolescent Service which will seek to
reduce a range of risky behaviors and safeguarding worries outside of the family
home with MSET being the main referral route into the service; (Further Information
can be provided in relation to this development should it be required)
• Reviewed our MSET process and the supporting documentation, including our Policy,
reporting governance, scrutiny and oversight and Risk Assessment form;
• Developed awareness materials around exploitation for dissemination across the
community and partnership;
• Introduced a specialist module into the social care data recording system (LCS/EHM)
case management system,
• Worked with our data team around developing an easy to understand MSET
vulnerability dataset;

Page 34

• Held workshops across Children’s Services’ teams to raise awareness of the ongoing
improvement work and the use of the specialist module.
• Our new MSET processes have been agreed with Police and partners and have been
through the approval processes including the Executive Partnership Board which has
oversight of North Tyneside Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.
Our next Steps include launching our new MSET processes in February 2021. We will
also plan and undertake awareness raising sessions for the community, partnership and
council so everyone understands and can respond to MSET within North Tyneside. Our
adolescence team will be launched which will be pivotal in providing intensive support to
those identified as being at risk of exploitation, including Missing, trafficked and slavery.

What do we know about Children and Young People who are currently at risk of or
are experiencing exploitation in North Tyneside:
We know that often children and young people who are at risk of or are being exploited
are those that are reported missing by their carers on a regular basis. From the start of
October until the 31st December 2020 there were 84 reported instances of a young
person being missing. This related to 21 young people. Of those 21 young people 17
were all returned within less than 24 hours with a high proportion only being missing for a
few hours.
There were 4 young people who had missing episodes that lasted longer than 24 hours
with 1 being missing for 4 days. In each of the missing instances the young person is
offered a return home interview within 72 hours. This allows us to understand any harm
that the young person may have suffered or be likely to suffer from people they may have
been with, provide information on how to stay safe, identify any patterns that cause worry
and understand the reasons why they may have been missing.
The young person who was missing for 4 days is a 17-year-old male who is in our care.
This young person had been previously Sexually Exploited and due to escalating worries
and being unable to keep him safe in his identified placement he spent some time in a
secure environment in Glasgow and then a secure step-down provision. There was a
planned move back to North Tyneside in 2020 with agreement from the young person
and an intensive support plan devised. In the return home interview, the young person
advised that he wanted to go and see friends in Glasgow as they had arranged a party.
There was a strategy meeting held which allowed plans to be put in place around
disruption and work with the British Transport Police.
When a child or young person has been reported missing and if it has been 72 hours, (or
sooner pending worries) a strategy meeting would be convened on an open case to the
social work team or escalated into a statutory framework. This allows for information to
be shared with all professionals, an action plan to be developed and an agreement as to
when further meetings will take place. The Assistant Director is sighted on all children
and young people who are reported missing.
Since the commencement of the global pandemic in March 2020 there has been a
decrease in the number of our young people who go missing.
Over the last quarter of 2020 we have had one young male who was 16 years old placed
into Secure Accommodation due to worries that he was being criminally exploited and
involved in County Lines. He was involved with a well known gang from the Newcastle
area, had spent time in London and was found in the Wiltshire area with a slash to his

Page 35

stomach and a small cut to his ear. Police at the time kept him in police protection for his
own safety due to the people he was associating with and the action they could take,
they also moved to safeguard his mother and younger sibling who lived in the Newcastle
area. The Secure Placement was ended on 31st December 2020 and a transition plan put
in place with high levels of support to keep this young person safe.
Although we have fully reviewed our MSET processes and devised a new policy this is
yet to launch and so we have continued to operate our MSET pre and full panel
throughout 2020. Both pre MSET and full panel continue to meet once a month to review
those cases that are referred in. During the last quarter of 2020 there were 13 cases
referred into Pre MSET with 2 progressing to full panel. It was the same young female
who is in our care that was heard at both October and Novembers full MSET panel.
Of the 13 referred in to pre MSET during this time 6 were male and 7 female. Two of
which were identified as being at risk of CSE (1 male and 1 female). The age range of
these young people was 14-17 year-old.
Work has taken place to develop a specific pathway within our recording system for
those who are at risk of exploitation and our data performance team are currently working
on a dashboard that will provide specific information in relation to those children and
young people that are missing, that have been to pre and full MSET and those that are at
risk of exploitation. This pathway will be expanded further during 2021 to include the new
MSET paperwork. This will greatly enhance our data set, giving themes and
understanding for targeted work to take place and / or practice development. It will also
support the development of the Adolescent team and the work that they will undertake
with our young people.

Background Information
The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and may be inspected
at the offices of the author.

Appendices
Please see document re plan on a page and awareness raising information

Page 36

Our Vision

Our Priorities

MSET is a multi-agency approach to the exploitation of
children and young people. We are child-centred with all our
decisions being made based on the individual child/young
person’s safeguarding needs. We will include and value our
young people’s voices throughout our work, our response,
and in how we develop our services.

North Tyneside Council and our partner agencies
condemn any form of exploitation of children, young
people and adults. It is our collective aim to prevent all
levels of harm and vulnerability, support victims of
exploitation and work with the police to prevent and
stop the cycle of harm. With this in mind, North
Tyneside’s MSET have the following priorities:

We will work together to disrupt and prevent the
perpetrators of exploitation and violence who are taking
advantage of our young people.

•

We seek to build resilience amongst children and young
people to prevent vulnerabilities from escalating into
exploitation through early intervention.

Develop an informed and supported workforce
and partnership, including the offer of training
and development in relation to exploitation;

•

Aim to strengthen the existing multi-agency
structures and information sharing
arrangements in order to obtain a clearer
picture of abuse and identify opportunities for
earlier intervention;

We seek to work to have the right people and agencies
being involved at the right time to safeguard our young
people.

•

Raise awareness of the exploitation of children
within the local community via posters and
leaflets;

We will invest in and equip our workforce and partner
agencies to understand and identify exploitation risks and
respond in the safest most effective way possible and
escalate appropriately so the right support is put in place
and the right time.

•

Empower the young person’s family and
network, to build on their strengths and
strategies already in place, build on feelings of
hope and identify supportive measures and
confidence;

We will continue to refine the work we do around our young
people who go missing, and our responses and support for
them.

•

Prioritise supportive relationships between
young people and key practitioners to promote
trust.

We will aim to protect our young people and the wider
community from the potential harms of exploitation,
violence and abuse and provide individualised assessments.

Changes Made

Advice and Referrals

A task and finish group was set up in November 2019. The
initial goal of which was to refresh the Terms of Reference
for North Tyneside’s MSET process.

Advice
If you wish advice on the MSET procedure or referral process
please contact the following:

It was during the initial conversations that an opportunity
was seen to refresh the whole process, including
undertaking a systems review and a public awareness
campaign.

•

For internal staff only, please contact Dawn Hodgson
NTC MSET Co-ordinator (Senior Manager for Front Door)
at mset@northtyneside.gov.uk;

We have:

•

For external professionals, please contact our
Professional Advice line on 0191 643 5555.

•

Amended our MSET Policy, making this more accessible
to the workforce, partner agencies and public alike;

•

Reviewed our Risk Assessment Tool to ensure this covers
all forms of exploitation;

Referrals

•

Researched good practice from other areas to enhance
our responses;

•

Delivered workforce development sessions relating to
Contextual Safeguarding issues;

•

Produced an awareness poster and leaflet to be
distributed in our communities.

Referrals into MSET can be made by internal colleagues at
North Tyneside Council. Referrals to Social Care in relation
to concerns of exploitation can be made both by internal
and external professionals.
All referrals should be made following the determination of
a Section 47 Enquiry. Referrals require management
consent, please follow the Referral Pathway.

Page 37

Ofsted rating of Outstanding recognised the extensive work

All referrals must be sent to mset@northtyneside.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

MISSING, SLAVERY,
EXPLOITED, TRAFFICKED
KNOW THE SIGNS

Page 39

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE ARE AT RISK OF
BECOMING VICTIMS OF HIDDEN CRIMES IN OUR
COMMUNITIES THAT CAN AFFECT EVERY PART OF
THEIR LIVES; THIS IS KNOWN AS EXPLOITATION.
THEY MAY ALSO BE A VICTIM OF TRAFFICKING OR
MODERN SLAVERY. THERE ARE SIMILARITIES
BETWEEN DIFFERENT FORMS OF EXPLOITATION;
CHILD CRIMINAL AND SEXUAL EXPLOITATION MAY
OVERLAP. THE CHILD OR YOUNG PERSON WHO IS
BEING EXPLOITED MAY ALSO BE A VICTIM OF
TRAFFICKING OR MODERN SLAVERY.
AS THE EYES AND EARS OF OUR COMMUNITIES,
TRUST YOUR INSTINCTS AND REPORT YOUR
SUSPICIONS IF SOMETHING DOESN'T LOOK OR
FEEL 'RIGHT'.
IF YOU THINK THAT A YOUNG PERSON IS BEING
EXPLOITED AND FEEL THEY ARE AT IMMEDIATE
RISK, REPORT THIS DIRECTLY TO THE POLICE BY
PHONING 101. IF YOU ARE WORRIED THAT YOU MAY
BE EXPLOITED AND WANT TO TALK TO SOMEONE
CONTACT NSPCC OR NORTH TYNESIDE COUNCIL.

Page 40

KNOW THE SIGNS, BE AWARE
Children and young people suffering
from exploitation can be male or
female. They may not realise they are
being exploited or are at risk of
exploitation. There are signs that you
can look out for as a parent, carer,
friend, professional or member of the
community. The child or young person
will likely be displaying a number of
these signs at one time:

•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Going missing from home or care
regularly or for long periods of
time;
Travelling for unexplained reasons;
Regularly missing school or not
taking part in education;
Suffering unexplained injuries;
Hanging around with older people,
other vulnerable people or in
antisocial groups;
Involved in criminal activities like
selling drugs or shoplifting;
Having older boyfriends or
girlfriends;
Suffering from sexually transmitted
infections;
Mood swings or changes in
emotional behaviour, becoming
withdrawn or isolated;

•
•
•
•

•

•

Drug and/or alcohol misuse;
Displaying unhealthy or
inappropriate sexualised behaviour
or using sexualised language;
Being involved in offending;
Friendships with older people,
including adults;
Appearing with money or 'gifts' that
cannot be accounted for;
Sudden changes in appearance or
presenting as unkempt;
Excessive time spent on social
media, talking to 'friends' they've
not met;
Appear to be under the control of
someone else and reluctant to
interact with others;
Being secretive.

If you know that a young person is
being exploited and feel they are at
immediate risk, report this directly to
the police via 999. If you are worried
that you may be exploited and want to
talk to someone contact NSPCC or
North Tyneside Council.

Page 41

CONTACT
NORTHUMBRIA POLICE 101
MULTI AGENCY SAFEGUARDING HUB
0345 2000 109 (OFFICE HOURS)
OR (0191) 200 6800 (EVENINGS AND
WEEKENDS)
Page
NSPCC 0808 800 5000 OR 0800 1111

42

